STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

\_\_\_\_\_  
Appeal from Berkeley County

Kristi Lea Harrington, Circuit Court Judge  
\_\_\_\_\_

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

EDWARD ISAIAH NELSON,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2018-000980  
\_\_\_\_\_

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT  
\_\_\_\_\_

SUSAN B. HACKETT  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

ORIGINAL  
**RECEIVED**  
JAN 28 2019  
SC Court of Appeals

**

**STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL**

Did the trial judge err by admitting six gruesome autopsy photographs of the deceased where the probative value was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, misleading of the jury, and as a waste of time due to the needless presentation of cumulative evidence in violation of Appellant's right to a fair trial by an impartial jury?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On December 13, 2016, a Berkeley County grand jury indicted Appellant for murder (2016-GS-08-2777). R. \*(indictment). The state, represented by Anne Williams and Wilton McNeely, called the case to trial before the Honorable Kristi Lea Harrington and a jury on May 14-16, 2018. Tr. 1-2. Julie Shivers and David Schwacke represented Appellant. Tr. 2. Ultimately, the jury found Appellant guilty of murder. Tr. 463, ll. 9-13. Judge Harrington sentenced Appellant to life imprisonment without the possibility of parole. Tr. 483, ll. 1-2; R. \*(sentence sheet).

On May 22, 2018, Appellant served his notice of appeal. This brief follows.

## **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

“In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only.” State v. Collins, 409 S.C. 524, 530, 763 S.E.2d 22, 25 (2014) (quoting State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006)). The appellate court “is bound by the trial court’s factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous.” Id. (quoting Baccus, supra). “The admission of exclusion of evidence is a matter addressed to the sound discretion of the trial court and its ruling will not be disturbed in the absence of a manifest abuse of discretion accompanied by probable prejudice.” Id. (quoting State v. Wise, 359 S.C. 14, 21, 596 S.E.2d 475, 478 (2004)). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” Id. (quoting Wise, supra).

## ARGUMENT

Violating Appellant's right to a fair trial by an impartial jury, the trial judge erred by admitting six gruesome autopsy photographs where the probative value was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, misleading of the jury, and as a waste of time due to the needless presentation of cumulative evidence.

### **Introduction**

Shonda Davis worked at the local library in Moncks Corner. Tr. 219, ll. 14-20. While visiting the library, Appellant met Davis. Tr. 219, ll. 21-25. The two developed a friendship that blossomed into romance. Tr. 126, ll. 8-13; Tr. 130, ll. 16-18; Tr. 219, ll. 21-23. On October 15, 2016, Davis and Appellant exchanged text messages throughout the day, discussing their relationship and the purchase of a tool from Lowe's for Appellant to use on his job. Tr. 369, l. 24 – Tr. 373, l. 24.

Later that evening, Davis went out to dinner with friends in Charleston. Tr. 127, ll. 14-24; Tr. 131, ll. 3-4. Appellant tried to contact Davis multiple times by phone, but Davis did not respond. Tr. 225, ll. 5-11; Tr. 340, ll. 6-8; Tr. 340, ll. 19-22; Tr. 373, ll. 12-24. On her way home from dinner, she called her ex-boyfriend, who was the father of her son, to invite him over to her house that evening. Tr. 218, ll. 13-14; Tr. 221, l. 25 – Tr. 222, l. 2; Tr. 342, ll. 2-11; Tr. 404, ll. 18-21; Tr. 406, l. 21 – Tr. 407, l. 18. When she arrived home, Davis was still on the phone with her ex-boyfriend discussing their evening plans. Tr. 407, ll. 19-21. As Davis got out of her car to enter her home, Appellant confronted her. Tr. 408, ll. 2-9. Appellant then used a knife to kill Davis. Tr. 139, ll. 20-24. The following day, the police arrested Appellant. Tr. 290, ll. 6-14. Appellant immediately admitted to police that he had killed Davis. Tr. 374, ll. 4-20; State's Exhibit #71.

Thus, there was never a question that Appellant killed Davis. Tr. 120, ll. 10-11; Tr. 120, ll. 20-21; Tr. 439, ll. 6-8. The only matter in dispute was Appellant's intent at the time. At trial, defense counsel argued the state failed to prove malice; rather, defense counsel posited that Appellant's actions were the result of heat of passion based upon sufficient legal provocation based upon Davis's refusal to respond to Appellant, Davis's communications with her ex-boyfriend, and Davis's invitation to her ex-boyfriend to spend the night with her. Tr. 121, ll. 19-23; Tr. 123, ll. 4-7; Tr. 439, ll. 14-16; Tr. 443, ll. 4-6; Tr. 444, ll. 13-19; Tr. 445, ll. 4-6. Nevertheless, the judge refused to instruct the jury on voluntary manslaughter. Tr. 427, l. 4 – Tr. 428, l. 19. Thus, the jury, knowing it was undisputed that Appellant killed the deceased, was left with only two options – guilty or not guilty of murder. Tr. 458, ll. 4-10.

Even though there was no dispute as to the identity of the perpetrator or the cause of death, the state insisted upon introducing six gruesome autopsy photographs. Even though numerous witnesses testified to the nature of the injuries suffered by Davis in graphic detail, the state insisted upon introducing six gruesome autopsy photographs. Even though the nature of the injuries was easily explained by the pathologist and did not require any specialized knowledge to understand, the state insisted upon introducing six gruesome autopsy photographs. Even though the pathologist used two demonstrative aids to explain the injuries suffered by Davis, the state insisted upon introducing six gruesome autopsy photographs. Admission of those photographs was error.

### **Relevant facts**

Prior to trial, the lawyers informed the judge that although they were able to agree on the admissibility of most of the exhibits, defense counsel objected to six photographs from the autopsy. Tr. 89, l. 22 – Tr. 90, l. 21; State's Exhibits #61, 62, 63, 88, 89, 90. Defense counsel

argued the probative value of the photographs was substantially outweighed by their danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, misleading of the jury, waste of time, and needless presentation of cumulative evidence. Tr. 92, ll. 2-5; Tr. 92, ll. 18-20; Tr. 93, ll. 3-5. Defense counsel explained “the manner in which the victim died, and the perpetrator of the crimes [were] not in question.” Tr. 92, ll. 8-9; Tr. 95, ll. 16-17. According to defense counsel, the “only issue” before the jury was “the intent behind the crime.” Tr. 92, ll. 6-7. According to defense counsel, the photographs would not “assist the jury in determining whether or not what the intent was at the time of the actual killing.” Tr. 92, l. 25 – Tr. 93, l. 2; Tr. 93, ll. 11-20; Tr. 95, l. 25 – Tr. 96, l. 1. Defense counsel argued that “the fact that the injuries [were] so gruesome” did not “show malice,” and that the “gruesome nature of the injuries” were not in dispute. Tr. 95, ll. 16-21. Additionally, “[t]he medical examiner, the emergency medical technicians, and the responding law enforcement [would] be testifying to the manner of death and extent of the injuries” rendering the photographs “unnecessary.” Tr. 93, ll. 5-10. Thus, the sole purpose of the photographs was to “inflame the emotions of the jury.” Tr. 92, ll. 10-11. Further, defense counsel explained that due to the danger of unfair prejudice posed by the photographs, their admission would deny Appellant his right to a fair trial before an impartial jury. Tr. 92, ll. 12-17.

The state argued the photographs “illustrate malice very, very vividly.” Tr. 94, ll. 3-10. According to the state, the photos were “horrific.” Tr. 95, l. 8. In light of the police not recovering a weapon, the state argued the photographs showed “the manner of death and the way that the defendant killed the victim.” Tr. 94, ll. 11-13.

Judge Harrington determined the photographs were admissible. Tr. 96, ll. 2-18. According to the judge “the photographs [were] necessary to substantiate material facts

regarding the nature of the crime and show evidence of malice.” Tr. 96, ll. 8-10. Further, she found “the photos contained information that [made] them more probative than prejudicial.” Tr. 96, ll. 11-13. Finally, she found “the photographs [would not] inflame the emotions of the jury to draw sympathy of the jury, to draw sympathy for the victim’s manner of death.” Tr. 96, ll. 13-16.

In its opening statement, the state explained the injuries the deceased suffered: “this defendant appears and begins plunging a knife into her head and face so many times that she’s not just cut, her skull is crushed in. Her brain matter is exposed to the naked eye. You can see it without having any medical expertise.” Tr. 117, ll. 17-23. Later, the solicitor promised the jurors “photos of the crime scene and limited photos of the victim because ... it’s not something you want to see more than you have to.” Tr. 118, l. 25 – Tr. 119, l. 2. In response, defense counsel explained she had tried to ensure the jurors would not have to view the photographs because the manner of death was not in dispute. Tr. 121, l. 23 – Tr. 122, l. 1.

During the state’s case-in-chief, the first officer on the scene, Ashley Spurgeon, described the deceased’s injuries in detail. Spurgeon told the jury the deceased had “numerous deep lacerations to her face, her head and her arms and her hands.” Tr. 160, ll. 9-12. Spurgeon recalled the cuts exposed bone and that “one of the fingers was missing.” Tr. 160, ll. 12-14. Spurgeon had never “seen anyone injured that bad in [her] experience as an officer.” Tr. 160, ll. 15-17. Next, the paramedic who tended to the deceased testified for the state and provided graphic details of the injuries she suffered. Specifically, he stated she had

Lacerations to the head and face too numerous to count and too overlapped to guess sizes, exposure of skull and possible brain matter found in opening above her right eye, smaller lacerations noted to the lips, a large laceration was noted under right eye approximately three inches, base of throat, sternal notch and chest had a laceration ... approximately two inches with fact exposure. ... Left arm had a large laceration to the wrist and partial amputation of the index finger, ring

finger, and pinkie finger. ... [L]arge laceration to the right wrist about approximately three inches and right forearm approximately three inches.

Tr. 173, l. 21 – Tr. 175, l. 7. Thereafter, the solicitor asked the paramedic to describe these injuries in greater detail and by using layman’s terms. Tr. 175, l. 8 – Tr. 176, l. 12. Another officer also described the deceased’s injuries: “multiple cuts on her arms, face and head, some deep enough that you could see bone. ... [T]here was a large pool of blood around the victim.”

Tr. 186, l. 21 – Tr. 187, l. 2.

Through its pathologist, the state introduced the photographs at issue. Tr. 386, ll. 19-22; Tr. 387, ll. 10-15. However, prior to her testimony, the state ensured that anyone who wanted to leave the courtroom would have an opportunity to do so due to the nature of the testimony and the gruesome nature of the photographs. Tr. 375, l. 25 – Tr. 376, l. 14. Additionally, the state decided to have the pathologist display the photographs directly in front of the jury “rather than [] projecting them onto the large screen.” Tr. 377, ll. 17-23. Dr. Riemer explained that Davis died as a result of multiple sharp-force injuries. Tr. 384, ll. 6-12. She explained that “sharp-force injuries were like cuts or chops.” Tr. 384, l. 22 – Tr. 385, l. 1. There was one stab wound and “dozens of sharp-force injuries overlapping on each other.” Tr. 385, ll. 4-8. When presented with the gruesome autopsy photographs, the pathologist claimed they would assist her with explaining the injuries. Tr. 387, ll. 17-21.

Dr. Riemer told the jurors that a “picture is worth a thousand words,” “[s]o [she] took multiple photographs of the injuries” and those on display were “some of them.” Tr. 388, ll. 5-10. When describing the “first picture,” she told the jurors it showed “her right arm” with “multiple cuts from a sharp force instrument” that went “through the skin and the subcutaneous tissue or the fatty tissue on her arm.” Tr. 388, ll. 11-18. Dr. Riemer showed the jurors photographs of the deceased’s right hand with fingers that had been practically amputated. Tr.

389, ll. 3-8. She opined that when the deceased “was aware that the sharp force object, this knife, was coming at her, it’s most likely that she held the hand up to her head to try to protect herself from the impact. ... [T]hey’re basically types of injuries sustained while she was trying to defend herself.” Tr. 389, ll. 9-16; Tr. 392, ll. 1-4.

Next, she showed the jurors a photograph of her face, which she said was “almost unrecognizable as a face because there [were] so many intersecting cuts on it.” Tr. 389, ll. 23-25. “There [were] multiple sharp-force injuries, cuts, all over her face. On her forehead, her nose, her cheeks, which actually went through into the sinus of the face. So they were very deep and damaged structures of the face.” Tr. 390, l. 23 -Tr. 391, l. 2. According to Dr. Riemer, her right eye was collapsed, but the jurors could not “actually appreciate it in that photograph.” Tr. 391, ll. 3-5. The photograph showed the cuts were “very deep” and “actually went through the scalp and skull in order to cause brain matter to be exposed.” Tr. 391, ll. 11-17.

Dr. Riemer said this was “extreme” compared to the many other autopsies she had performed. Tr. 390, ll. 9-11. Noting that several photographs were in black and white, instead of color, Dr. Riemer told the jurors that the “actual photo” she took “was in color,” but she guessed it had been changed to black and white “to make it less offensive.” Tr. 390, ll. 11-14.

In addition to the photographs, Dr. Riemer used two demonstrative aids. Tr. 393, ll. 8-16; State’s Exhibit #92; State’s Exhibit #93. One demonstrative aid showed a model of a head – “the outer layer, the skull,” “a periosteal layer and meningeal layer,” “dura matter,” the “arachnoid membrane,” and the brain. Tr. 394, ll. 2-12. Using this aid, Dr. Riemer explained the deceased had bleeding into the subdural space and the subarachnoid space, as well as disruption of the brain tissue itself. Tr. 394, ll. 13-24. Using the second diagram, Dr. Riemer showed the jurors the injuries the deceased suffered to her head, explaining “the scalp was more

cut through and the bone of the skull was actually cut through as well, and pieces of it were just, like, breaking off.” Tr. 395, ll. 1-9. She could only describe the injuries as “multiple fractures of the skull with exposure of the brain tissue beneath the skull and damage and bleeding to the actual brain tissue.” Tr. 395, ll. 10-14.

In closing, the state acknowledged the “shocking” and “terrible” evidence the jury had to see. Tr. 430, ll. 20-21. In fact, the solicitor actually apologized for having to show the jurors some of that evidence. Tr. 430, ll. 18-24. When discussing Dr. Riemer’s testimony, the solicitor recognized the testimony was “very hard for you-all.” Tr. 436, ll. 14-15. The solicitor asked the jurors to recall the testimony of the paramedic who described “horrific injuries,” including “deep lacerations to the head and face too numerous to count and too overlapping to guess the size.” Tr. 435, ll. 19-23.

## **Discussion**

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides that “In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial, by an impartial jury of the state and district wherein the crime shall have been committed....” U.S. Const. Am. VI. The Fourteenth Amendment forbids states to “deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law.” U.S. Const. Am. XIV; see also Estelle v. Williams, 425 U.S. 501 (1976); Irvin v. Dowd, 366 U.S. 717 (1961). Pursuant to this Due Process Clause, the United States Supreme Court held an individual’s right to a jury trial pursuant to Sixth Amendment is applicable to the states. Duncan v. Louisiana, 391 U.S. 145, 149-150 (1968); see also State v. Warren, 273 S.C. 159, 255 S.E.2d 668 (1979). Additionally, South Carolina’s Constitution provides that “Any person charged with an offense shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial by an impartial jury.” S.C. Const. Art. I, § 14.

The Rules of Evidence serve to safeguard an individual's rights to due process of law and an impartial jury. One of the most important of those rules is the rule requiring exclusion of evidence where the probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice arising from that evidence. Generally, all relevant evidence is admissible. Rule 402, SCRE. "Relevant evidence' means evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence. Rule 401, SCRE. "Evidence which assists a jury at arriving at the truth of an issue is relevant and admissible unless otherwise incompetent." State v. Schmidt, 288 S.C. 301, 303, 342 S.E.2d 401, 403 (1986) (citing Toole v. Salter, 249 S.C. 354, 361, 154 S.E.2d 434, 437 (1967)). However, even relevant evidence must "be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence." Rule 403, SCRE; see also State v. Orozco, 392 S.C. 212, 218, 708 S.E.2d 227, 230 (Ct. App. 2011).

Thus, the first step requires a determination of the probative value of the evidence. The second step requires an evaluation of the danger of unfair prejudice, the danger of confusion of the issues, the danger of misleading the jury, and considerations of waste of time and needless presentation of cumulative evidence resulting from the introduction of the evidence. The third step requires balancing of the probative value and dangers and considerations posed by the introduction of the evidence.

#### *Probative value*

The starting point for analyzing evidence under Rule 403 is determining the probative value of the evidence offered. "Probative' means '[t]ending to prove or disprove.'" State v. Gray, 408 S.C. 601, 609, 759 S.E.2d 160, 165 (Ct. App. 2014). According to this Court, "[p]robative value'

is the measure of the importance of that tendency to the outcome of a case.” Id. at 610, 759 S.E.2d at 165. The probative value of evidence is directly related to the how important that evidence is in assisting the jury in rendering a verdict. Id. Thus, when analyzing the probative value of evidence, the court must consider the importance of the evidence as it relates to the issues presented in the case. State v. Lee, 399 S.C. 521, 528, 732 S.E.2d 225, 228 (Ct. App. 2012).

### *Danger of unfair prejudice*

After determining the probative value of the evidence, the court must next evaluate the danger of unfair prejudice presented by the evidence. “The determination of prejudice must be based on the entire record and the result will generally turn on the facts of each case.” State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 7, 545 S.E.2d 827, 830 (2001). “‘Unfair prejudice does not mean the damage to a defendant’s case that results from the legitimate probative force of the evidence; rather it refers to evidence which tends to suggest [a] decision on an improper basis.’” State v. Gilchrist, 329 S.C. 621, 630, 496 S.E.2d 424, 429 (Ct. App. 1998) (quoting United States v. Bonds, 12 F.3d 540, 567 (6<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1993)). According to the United States Supreme Court, “[t]he term ‘unfair prejudice,’ as to a criminal defendant, speaks to the capacity of some concededly relevant evidence to lure the factfinder into declaring guilt on a ground different from proof specific to the offense charged.” Old Chief v. United States, 519 U.S. 172, 180 (1997). “Rule 403 only requires suppression of evidence that results in unfair prejudice – prejudice that damages an opponent for reasons other than its probative value, for instance, an appeal to emotion.” United States v. Mohr, 318 F.3d 613, 619-620 (4<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2003). Unfair prejudice means an undue tendency to suggestion a decision on an improper basis, commonly, but not necessarily, an emotional one. Orozco, 392 S.C. at 218, 708 S.E.2d at 230 (citing State v. Cheeseboro, 346 S.C. 526, 547, 552 S.E.2d 300, 311 (2001)); see also State v. Alexander, 303 S.C. 377, 382, 401 S.E.2d 146, 149 (1991) (providing that “[e]vidence is unfairly

prejudicial if it has an undue tendency to suggest a decision on an improper basis, such as an emotional one”).

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