ORIGINAL

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

Appeal from Berkeley County
The Honorable Kristie L. Harrington, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2018-000980

RECEIVED

OCT 01 2019

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

EDWARD ISAAH NELSON,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Chief Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

WILLIAM EDGAR SALTER, III
Senior Assistant Attorney General

P. O. Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-6305

SCARLETTE ANNE WILSON
Solicitor, Ninth Judicial Circuit
101 Meeting Street, Suite 400
Charleston, South Carolina 29401

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

Sixth and of greatest significance, the State indicted Appellant for murdering Shonda Davis. (See *R.305-306*) This required the State to prove that he killed her “with malice aforethought, either express or implied.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-10 (2003). See also *State v. Blakely*, 402 S.C. 650, 742 S.E.2d 29 (Ct.App. 2013); *State v. Judge*, 208 S.C. 497, 38 S.E.2d 715, 719 (1946). “‘Malice’ is the wrongful intent to injure another and indicates a wicked or depraved spirit intent on doing wrong. *State v. Johnson*, 291 S.C. 127, 352 S.E.2d 480 (1987).” *State v. Kelsey*, 331 S.C. 50, 62, 502 S.E.2d 63, 69 (1998). It is the doing of a wrongful act intentionally and without just cause or excuse. *Tate v. State*, 351 S.C. 418, 570 S.E.2d 522 (2002). See also *State v. Fennell*, 340 S.C. 266, 275 n. 2, 531 S.E.2d 512, 517 n. 2 (2000) (“[m]alice is a legal term implying wickedness and excluding a just cause or excuse. The term malice indicates a formed purpose and design to do a wrongful act under the circumstances that exclude any legal right to do it”); *Arnold v. State*, 309 S.C. 157, 163, 420 S.E.2d 834, 837 (1992) (malice “is something which springs from wickedness, from depravity, from a heart devoid of social duty and fatally bent on mischief”).

On the other hand, Appellant contented that he did not act with malice and that he asserted that he was only guilty of voluntary manslaughter. Voluntary manslaughter is an “unlawful killing of a human being in a sudden heat of passion upon sufficient legal provocation. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-50 (2003); *State v. Starnes*, 388 S.C. 590, 596, 698 S.E.2d 604, 608 (2011); *State v. Knoten*, 347 S.C. 296, 302, 555 S.E.2d 391, 394 (2001); *State v. Walker*, 324 S.C. 257, 260, 478 S.E.2d 280, 281 (1996). The prosecution generally has the right to prove every element of the crime charged, even in cases where the defendant is willing to stipulate an element(s). See *Estelle*, 502

U.S. at 69; *Mathews v. United States*, 485 U.S. 58, 64-65 (1988); *State v. Johnson*, 338 S.C. 114, 122, 525 S.E.2d 519, 523 (2000).

Although Appellant stipulated to identity and the manner of death, he challenged the one element that is essential to any murder conviction: proof that he acted with malice aforethought.¹¹ Contrary to Appellant's objection, Respondent submits that a reasonable inference from the challenged photographs, as well as Dr. Riemer's testimony, is that he inflicted the various injuries when he killed the victim with malice aforethought. Accordingly, the photographs were relevant.

Further, the probative value of these photographs was not substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice under Rule 403, SCRE. "A trial judge's decision regarding the comparative probative value and prejudicial effect of evidence should be reversed only in exceptional circumstances." *Collins*, 409 S.C. at 534, 763 S.E.2d at 28 (quoting *State v. Adams*, 354 S.C. 361, 378, 580 S.E.2d 785, 794 (Ct.App.2003)). Respondent submits that Appellant cannot show "exceptional circumstances" here.

¹¹ Appellant cites to the United States Supreme Court's opinion in *Old Chief v. United States*, 519 U.S. 172 (1997), yet he conveniently ignores the following statement that is relevant to his claim of error:

A syllogism is not a story, and a naked proposition in a courtroom may be no match for the robust evidence that would be used to prove it. People who hear a story interrupted by gaps of abstraction may be puzzled at the missing chapters, and jurors asked to rest a momentous decision on the story's truth can feel put upon at being asked to take responsibility knowing that more could be said than they have heard. A convincing tale can be told with economy, but when economy becomes a break in the natural sequence of narrative evidence, an assurance that the missing link is really there is never more than second best.

Id. at 189-190.

The photographs were extremely probative on whether he acted maliciously when he killed Shonda, vividly and accurately depicting as they did the brutally ferocious nature of his attack on her. Indeed, the force necessary to inflict these wounds, combined with the sheer number and severity of the wounds depicted by these photographs conclusively demonstrates that he acted with a malicious intent. The wounds to her face and head were so numerous and intersecting that a paramedic with eight years of experience testified that they were “too numerous to count and too overlapped to guess [their] sizes” (*R. 65; 71-72*), and a forensic pathologist who had performed over 4,000 autopsies (*see R. 233; 235*) testified that Shonda’s face was “almost unrecognizable as a face.” *R. 241*.

However, both the State and the trial judge took extensive measures to ensure that the photographs would not “create a ‘tendency to suggest a decision on an improper basis, ... [such as] an emotional one.’” *Kelley*, 319 S.C. at 178, 460 S.E.2d at 370-71 (quoting *Alexander*, 303 S.C. at 377, 401 S.E.2d at 149). The State only selected six photographs out of the fifty-five photographs taken at autopsy. These six, although challenged at trial and on appeal, vividly and accurately depict the injuries that Appellant inflicted on the victim. Yet, they also were among the least (if not *the least*) offensive photographs that had been taken at autopsy. *Compare* Court’s Exs. 1-55. Also, the only color photographs are State’s Exs 61-63, which depict the defensive wounds to the victim’s arm and her hand. The photographs depicting the injuries to her face and head, State’s Exs. 88-90, were in black and white.

Each of these six photographs only depict the victim’s injuries after those injuries were cleaned and, consequently, there is very little, if any blood present in them. The lone exception is State’s Ex. 89, a black and white picture showing a wound to the head that was so forceful it penetrate the victim’s skull and injured her brain. Further, none of the photographs were projected

onto the large screen, as were many other exhibits. Instead, Dr. Riemer left the stand, walked up to jurors and published each individual picture to jurors.

Moreover, both the trial judge and the State ensured that every member of Shonda's family who was present for Dr. Riemer's testimony was aware of the nature of her testimony and was admonished that any emotional outburst was prohibited. The record does not reflect that any such outburst occurred. Obviously, each of these steps helped to greatly minimize the chance that these photographs would inflame the emotions of jurors.

Appellant suggests that the challenged photographs exceed "the outer limits of what our law permits a jury to consider," *Torres*, 390 S.C. at 624, 703 S.E.2d at 229, and relies on *Torres* and *Collins* in support of this contention. His reliance is misplaced. *Torres* is readily distinguishable for several reasons: In *Torres*, the prosecution introduced sixteen autopsy photographs and a number of crime scene photographs of the victims in the **sentencing phase** of the appellant's capital trial. *Id.* at 622, 703 S.E.2d at 228. Also, these photographs are far more graphic than those presently at issue, with some depicting the male victim's skull crushed in completely and others showing the female victim's eye was missing, her face was unrecognizable, her mouth was where her cheek should be, and her dental bridge was essentially sticking out of her neck. As the Court in *Torres* acknowledged, however, the scope of the probative value is much broader in the sentencing phase of a capital murder trial, than in the guilt phase. *Id.* at 623, 703 S.E.2d at 229. Further, unlike the pre-autopsy photographs in *Collins*, State's Exhibits 61-63 and 88-90 depicted precisely what Appellant, personally, did to the victim and nothing more.¹²

¹² In *Collins*, the appellant was charged with involuntary manslaughter and three counts of owning a dangerous animal. At trial, the trial judge admitted into evidence seven pre-autopsy photographs of the child victim, who died of "extensive traumatic injury" after being severely mauled by dogs. *Collins*, 409 S.C. at 528-33, 763 S.E.2d at 25-27. This Court reversed, finding the circuit court erroneously admitted the photographs, and the error was not harmless. *Id.* at 533, 763 S.E.2d at

Given the manner in which the challenged photographs were presented and the pathologist's testimony about what they depict, Respondent submits that they simply did not create a "tendency to suggest a decision on an improper basis, commonly, though not necessarily, an emotional one." *Kelley*, 319 S.C. at 178, 460 S.E.2d at 370-71; *Alexander*, 303 S.C. at 377, 401 S.E.2d at 149. Particularly in this day and age, where forensic matters are graphically shown in various and sundry popular prime time television programs and documentaries - such as "Forensic Files" and "CSI" and its spin-offs - the jurors in this case simply would not be so shocked by these photographs that they would have rendered a verdict based on an emotional basis. Rather, they would have understood that the autopsy was a necessary and indispensable process to determine the cause of death.

In other words, the photographs were relevant and necessary, and they were not introduced with the intent to inflame, elicit the sympathy of, or prejudice the jury. *Id.* Respondent submits that these photographs were less prejudicial than autopsy photographs or graphic crime scene photographs that this Court or the South Carolina Supreme Court has previously found admissible in numerous other cases. *See, e.g., State v. Hawes*, 423 S.C. 118, 130-31, 813 S.E.2d 513, 520-21 (Ct. App. 2018), *reh'g denied* (May 24, 2018) (upholding admission of crime scene photographs of wounds to unclothed victim's right neck and breast where the photographs established the circumstances of the crime scene and corroborated the testimony of both the victim's next-door

763 S.E.2d at 27. However, the Supreme Court reversed, with two members finding that the photographs were "highly probative, corroborative, and material in establishing the elements of the offenses charged; [their] probative value outweighed [their] potential prejudice; and the appellate court should not have invaded the trial court's discretion in admitting this crucial evidence based on its emotional reaction to the subject matter presented." *Id.* at 534-35, 763 S.E.2d at 28. Justice Kittredge, who was joined by Justice Hearn, concurred in the result. He found that the photographs were erroneously admitted but that any error was harmless and non-prejudicial. *Id.* at 539, 763 S.E. at 30 (Kittredge, J., concurring in result). Justice Pleicones dissented. *Id.* at 540, 763 S.E.2d at 30-31.

neighbor, who had heard the appellant attacking the victim on the morning of the murder, and the crime scene investigator); *Gray*, 408 S.C. at 612-16, 759 S.E.2d at 166-68 (finding that three autopsy photographs showing the victim's exposed skull and brain had probative value because they corroborated the pathologist's findings concerning the extent and location of the victim's head injuries and cause of death and were important to the State's ability to prove malice); *Kelsey*, 331 S.C. at 76, 502 S.E.2d at 76 (photographs of various bone and bomb fragments and clothing found at crime scene were admissible in murder prosecution, despite claim that, because victim's body was found in woods 46 days after crime was committed, weather or local fauna could have altered crime scene during that period; photographs corroborated other testimony concerning condition of victim's body as first discovered by police at crime scene, and location of bone and bomb fragments supported testimony that bomb had been detonated in victim's mouth); (upholding admitting autopsy photographs of child victim's internal organs and other injuries). *See also Todd*, 290 S.C. at 214, 349 S.E.2d at 340 (black and white photograph of the victim's right upper chest with the breast exposed showing the location of the bullet wound was admissible to corroborate pathologist's testimony regarding location of wound, and did not prejudice defendant, since there was explicit testimony that victim's blouse and brassiere had been removed by medical personnel when they arrived at scene in order to administer medical assistance); *State v. Jarrell*, 350 S.C. 90, 106, 564 S.E.2d 362, 371 (Ct. App. 2002) (upholding the admission of graphic autopsy photographs in homicide by child abuse case because they corroborated testimony and demonstrated the extent of the injuries); *State v. Ward*, 374 S.C. 606, 613, 649 S.E.2d 145, 149 (Ct. App. 2007) (upholding trial court's finding that probative value of two photographs illustrating graze wounds on the victim's back outweighed their prejudicial effect, since the jury's knowledge of the graze wound was necessary to rebut the defense's arguments about the angle of the shot);

State v Dial, 405 S.C. 247, 260-61, 746 S.E.2d 495, 501-02 (Ct.App. 2013) (probative value of three autopsy photographs of five-month-old victim's head injuries was not outweighed by danger of unfair prejudice in prosecution for homicide by child abuse; where photographs were introduced to corroborate testimony of forensic pathologist who performed autopsy that victim's various injuries were inconsistent with an accidental injury as defendant claimed had occurred, and they were highly probative of whether victim was abused and whether abuse was cause of his death, both integral elements of charged offense); *State v. Nichols*, 325 S.C. 111, 121, 481 S.E.2d 118, 124 (1997) (admitting a photograph of the victim's face because it demonstrated the angle and distance from which the victim was shot).

Nor did the challenged photographs confuse the issues or mislead the jury. To the contrary, they merely demonstrated that Appellant's claim the homicide was voluntary manslaughter lacked plausibility. The bottom line on his argument in this regard is that any juror viewing the photographs would see that he was guilty of murder and not manslaughter. However, this is not the type of "unfair prejudice" against which Rule 403, SCRE, protects. "Unfair prejudice does not mean the damage to a defendant's case that results from the legitimate probative force of the evidence; rather it refers to evidence which tends to suggest [a] decision on an improper basis." *State v. Gilchrist*, 329 S.C. 621, 630, 496 S.E.2d 424, 429 (Ct. App. 1998) (quoting *United States v. Bonds*, 12 F.3d 540, 567 (6th Cir. 1993)).

Finally, any error in the introduction of these photographs must be viewed as non-prejudicial and harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, since their introduction could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial. See *State v. Sherard*, 303 S.C. 172, 175, 399 S.E.2d 595, 596 (1991) ("Error in a criminal prosecution is harmless when it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial"); *State v. Bailey*, 298 S.C. 1, 5, 377 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1989) ("When guilt

has been conclusively proven by competent evidence such that no other rational conclusion can be reached, the Court should not set aside a conviction because of insubstantial errors not affecting the result”). “Whether an error is harmless depends on the circumstances of the particular case.” *State v. Tapp*, 376, 389, 728 S.E.2d 468, 475 (2012).

Here, any error must be viewed as harmless and non-prejudicial because, at worst, these photographs were cumulative to the other expert testimony concerning the victim's injuries. The admission of improper evidence is harmless when the evidence is merely cumulative to other evidence. *See State v. Haselden*, 353 S.C. 190, 197, 577 S.E.2d 445, 448-49 (2003). *See also See State v. Brazell*, 325 S.C. 65, 79, 480 S.E.2d 64, 72 (1997) (“Even if the descriptive testimony of the prosecution's witnesses adequately conveyed the brutality and malice of the crime and these photographs were unnecessary, they were harmless surplusage”) (citing *State v. Robinson*, 201 S.C. 230, 22 S.E.2d 587 (1942) (finding the photographs unnecessary but harmless because they were not prejudicial or inflammatory)).

Additionally, there was overwhelming evidence of Appellant's guilt, such that the error complained of could not have affected the result of his trial. “Where ‘guilt has been conclusively proven by competent evidence such that no other rational conclusion can be reached,’ an insubstantial error that does not affect the result of the trial is considered harmless.” *State v. Brown*, 424 S.C. 479, 493, 818 S.E.2d 735, 743 (2018) (quoting *State v. Byers*, 392 S.C. 438, 447, 710 S.E.2d 55, 60 (2011)).

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